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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA  

 PANAMA CITY DIVISION  

  

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  

                

v.                  Case No.:  5:20cr28-MW/MJF  

  

MARGO DEAL ANDERSON et al.,   

  

  Defendants.   

__________________________________/  

ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART DEFENDANT  

ANDERSON’S MOTION TO DISMISS COUNTS ONE AND FOUR OF THE  

THIRD SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT  

  

  This Court has considered, without hearing, Defendant Margo Deal  

Anderson’s motion to dismiss Counts One and Four of the Third Superseding 

Indictment. ECF No. 386. Defendant James David Finch joined the motion. ECF  

No. 385 at 12 n.6. The Government filed a response in opposition. ECF No. 403. 

Anderson’s motion is now under submission and ripe for disposition. For the reasons 

set out below, Anderson’s motion to dismiss Counts One and Four of the Third 

Superseding Indictment, ECF No. 386, is GRANTED in part and DENIED in  

part.  

I  

 The parties are familiar with the procedural history of the case, so this Court will 

only recite the portions relevant to the present motion. The third superseding 

indictment charges Anderson and Finch with, among other things, conspiracy to 
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commit bribery in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 371 & 666 (Count One). The indictment 

also charges Anderson individually with committing bribery in violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 666(a)(1)(B) (Count Four). Anderson argues that this Court should dismiss 

Count One pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 12(b)(3)(B)(i) because it 

is duplicitous. ECF No. 386 at 27. Anderson also argues that Count Four should be 

dismissed under Rule 12(b)(3)(B)(iii) because it “fails to plead a bribery scheme with 

sufficient specificity to apprise [her] of the specific charge.” Id. at 1. Specifically, 

Anderson claims that Count Four “fails to plead a particular item of business, 

transaction, or series of transactions for which Anderson corruptly intended to be 

influenced or rewarded when she allegedly accepted or agreed to accept a bribe.” Id. 

The Government insists that both arguments are squarely foreclosed by binding case 

law. ECF No. 403. This Court will address each of  

Anderson’s arguments in turn.  

II  

First, Anderson’s duplicity challenge to Count One. Duplicitous counts 

impermissibly charge “two or more ‘separate and distinct’ offenses.” United States 

v. Schlei, 122 F.3d 944, 977 (11th Cir. 1997). To determine whether the Third 

Superseding Indictment charges a single conspiracy, this Court must ask whether 

there is “an ‘interdependence’ among the alleged co-conspirators.” United States v. 

Toler, 144 F.3d 1423, 1426 (11th Cir. 1998). The answer to that question depends 

on  
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2  

whether Defendants “act[ed] in concert to further a common goal” and whether their 

“combined efforts” through the different sub-schemes “were . . . required to insure 

the success of the venture.” United States v. Chandler, 388 F.3d 796, 811 (11th Cir. 

2004). To guide this analysis, this Court also looks to “(1) whether a common goal 

existed; (2) the nature of the underlying scheme; and (3) the overlap of participants.” 

United States v. Richardson, 532 F.3d 1279, 1284 (11th Cir. 2008). And this Court 

must apply the common goal element broadly because “ ‘common’ means ‘similar’ 

or ‘substantially the same’ rather than ‘shared’ or ‘coordinate.’ ” United States v. 

Holt, 777 F.3d 1234, 1263 (11th Cir. 2015) (quoting Richardson, 532 F.3d at 1285).  

Anderson argues that Count One contains “independent, disconnected alleged 

conspiracies” because it “lacks any allegations that the alleged Finch-Anderson and 

Finch-Barnes conspiratorial agreements shared a common goal greater than 

themselves.” ECF No 386 at 27. Further, there is no allegation that “Anderson knew 

of the alleged Finch-Barnes agreement” or that this conspiracy was in any way 

“dependent on, facilitated by, or furthered by Anderson.” Id.   

The Government insists that the conspiracy charge is not duplicitous merely 

because it lacks an allegation that Anderson knew about Barnes’s involvement. In a  

“hub and spoke conspiracy” like the one alleged, the Government argues that the 

“spokes”—Defendant Anderson and Commissioner Barnes—need not know about 

each other’s involvement so long as they are connected to the same “hub”— 
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3  

Defendant Finch—and united by the “rim” (or common purpose) of accepting 

benefits from Finch in exchange for favorable acts towards his business interests. Id. 

at 8–9. The Government also points to Eleventh Circuit Pattern Instruction O13.1, 

which explains that “[a] person may be a conspirator without knowing all the details 

of the unlawful plan or the names and identities of all the other alleged conspirators.” 

Id. at 7–8.  

Anderson is correct, although her argument overstates what the indictment 

must allege—Count One charges separate and distinct offenses. “Chain-shaped 

conspiracies present classic examples of interdependence.” United States v. Kemp,  

500 F.3d 257, 289 (3rd Cir. 2007). But, as the Government concedes here, ECF No. 

403 at 8, this is not a chain-shaped conspiracy. Instead, this is more akin to a 

wheelshaped “hub and spoke” conspiracy, where “a central core of conspirators 

recruits separate groups of co-conspirators to carry out the various functions of the 

illegal enterprise.” Chandler, 388 F.3d at 807 (citing Kotteakos v. United States, 328 

U.S. 750, 755 (1946)). “[F]or a wheel conspiracy to exist, those people who form 

the wheel’s spokes must have been aware and must do something in furtherance of 
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some single, illegal enterprise.” Chandler, 388 F.3d at 808 (quoting United States v. 

Levine, 546 F.2d 658, 663 (5th Cir. 1977)).1 Without this awareness of a broader  

  
illegal enterprise beyond a conspirator’s own interaction with the central conspirator, 

the wheel-shaped conspiracy lacks a “rim” and each “spoke” actually operates as a 

separate conspiracy. See Chandler, 388 F.3d at 809.  

In the third superseding indictment, the Government fails to allege that 

Anderson or Barnes knew of their participation in a broader conspiracy orchestrated 

by Finch or that they shared a common goal. The indictment contains no allegations 

that the conspiracies shared common actors. In other words, the Anderson and 

Barnes “spokes”—connected to Finch as the “hub”—lacked a “rim” to complete the 

wheel conspiracy. While the Government insists a conspirator need not know of 

every detail of the broader conspiracy to be criminally liable, a conspirator in a 

wheel-shaped conspiracy needs to at least be aware of their participation in a broader 

plot beyond their discrete agreement with the central conspirator. See Chandler, 388 

F.3d at 808.  

 
1 In Bonner v. City of Prichard, 661 F.2d 1206, 1209 (11th Cir. 1981) (en banc), the 

Eleventh Circuit adopted as binding precedent all decisions of the former Fifth Circuit handed 

down prior to October 1, 1981.  

4  
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The Government’s invocation of this Court’s prior finding that “these schemes 

‘have the same goal—to disperse City contracts in exchange for bribes—and are 

similar in nature,’ ” ECF No. 403 at 8, is misplaced. This language comes from this  

Court’s Order on earlier motions to dismiss the first superseding indictment. See ECF 

No. 185 at 5. The nature of the charged conspiracy there, however, was different 

than Count One’s current formulation in the third superseding indictment. In this 

Court’s Order addressing the allegedly duplicitous conspiracy charge in the first  

5  

superseding indictment, the wheel-shaped conspiracy consisted of Finch as the  

“hub,” various City of Lynn Haven schemes as the “spokes,” and Anderson as the 

“rim” completing the wheel. See ECF No. 185 at 5. In this context, this Court found 

that at least three of the five alleged schemes serving as “spokes” in the charged 

wheel-shaped conspiracy had the same goal—for Anderson to help disperse City 

contracts to Finch in exchange for bribes. Here, the Government modified the 

conspiracy allegations in Count One and, to continue the metaphor, changed the 

structure of the wheel.   

In its current formulation, Count One characterizes Finch as the “hub” of the 

conspiracy, Anderson and Barnes as “spokes,” and their goals to extract bribes from 

Finch in return for favorable actions serves as the “rim” completing the wheel. But 

similar goals among conspirators—unlike a common actor like Anderson in the 

earlier formulation of this conspiracy—cannot serve as the rim completing a 
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wheelshaped conspiracy. In United States v. Glinton, 154 F.3d 1245, 1251 (11th Cir. 

1998), the Eleventh Circuit held that various drug dealers connected to the same 

central distributor cannot be part of the same wheel-shaped conspiracy simply 

because they all sought to sell drugs for money. The Eleventh Circuit in Glinton 

explained “[i]t is clearly not sufficient simply to say that the defendants each shared 

a common goal, to-wit: profit from the sale of cocaine. In order to constitute a single 

conspiracy, there  

must be a single enterprise which sets up a common goal connecting each  

6  

defendant.” Id. at 1251. The Eleventh Circuit elaborated on what qualifies as a 

common goal connecting each conspirator in Chandler, noting that several 

conspirators working towards a shared goal does not indicate a singular, 

wheelshaped conspiracy where there is no evidence that each “spoke” is “aware that 

it was participating in anything larger than its own redemptions.” 388 F.3d at 811.2  

 
2 The Government’s invocation of Eleventh Circuit Pattern Instruction O13.1 is misplaced. 

The Government is correct that, as the pattern instruction states, it need not prove or allege that an 

individual  knew “all the details of the unlawful plan or the names and identities of all the other 

alleged conspirators.” Anderson’s point that Count One is duplicitous because it lacks “an 

allegation that [she] knew of the alleged Finch-Barnes agreement” is unpersuasive for this reason. 

See ECF No. 386 at 27. However, the Eleventh Circuit has made clear—and the pattern instruction 

does not foreclose—that the Government must prove or allege that a conspirator had some 

knowledge or awareness of their participation in a broader plot beyond their discrete agreement 

with the central conspirator. See Chandler, 388 F.3d at 808.  

7  
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Here, there is no allegation that either Anderson or Barnes was aware of any 

other official taking bribes from Finch—whether by name or through some general 

knowledge of corruption working in Finch’s favor. There may well be overlap 

between some of the projects that Anderson and Barnes allegedly influenced on 

behalf of Finch—in fact, previous indictments allege overlap on some schemes like 

the 17th Street project. See ECF No. 64 at 28–29. However, this Court must look 

only to the face of the operative indictment in determining whether a count contains 

duplicitous charges. United States v. Stickle, 355 F. Supp. 2d 1317, 1330 (S.D. Fla. 

2004) (citing United States v. Sharpe, 193 F.3d 852, 866 (5th Cir. 1999)). And while 

an allegation of overlap between Finch and Barnes’s influence efforts may not be  

  
sufficient to find that they served as separate “spokes” in a common conspiracy, the 

operative, simplified indictment lacks even that. The only allegations in the third 

superseding indictment connecting the Finch-Anderson conspiracy to the 

FinchBarnes conspiracy are the connections to Finch and the shared goal of taking 

Finch’s money in exchange for influence. Without more, this Court must find that 

Count One is duplicitous.  

The typical remedy for a duplicitous count in an indictment is to offer a 

curative instruction at trial specifying the offense charged in each count. See United  
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States v. Cotton, No. 8:14-CR-360-T-33TBM, 2014 WL 7068095, at *2 (M.D. Fla. 

Dec. 12, 2014) (collecting cases). “The entire count should not be dismissed when a 

less drastic ruling will suffice.” United States v. Goodman, 285 F.2d 378, 380 (5th 

Cir. 1960). Unlike previous iterations of this indictment where the duplicitous 

charges could not be disentangled, see ECF No. 185 at 7, the two conspiracies 

alleged in Count One can be feasibly separated. Here, this Court will offer a curative 

instruction to the jury that specifies the offense charged in Count One of the third 

superseding indictment.  

III  

 Next, Anderson’s sufficiency challenge to Count Four.  Anderson argues that Count 

Four, which charges Anderson with violating 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(1)(B), is legally 

insufficient because it fails to allege a particular item of business for which  

8  

Anderson corruptly intended to be influenced when she accepted a bribe. In other 

words, Count Four lacks any allegation of a quid pro quo. ECF No. 386 at 7. The 

Government contends that Anderson’s attempt to inject a quid pro quo requirement 

into section 666(a)(1)(B) fails because the Eleventh Circuit has squarely rejected this 

argument. ECF No. 403 at 14–15. Further, it argues, even if a conviction under 

section 666(a)(1)(B) required a quid pro quo, the indictment’s allegations of a series 

of payments from Finch to influence Anderson’s official decisions generally would 

suffice. Id. at 16.  
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“An indictment is legally sufficient if it (1) contains the “essential elements” 

of the charged offense, (2) notifies the defendant of the charges to be defended 

against, and (3) protects the defendant from double jeopardy.” United States v. 

Leonard, 4 F.4th 1134, 1143 (11th Cir. 2021) (quoting United States v. Woodruff, 

296 F.3d 1041, 1046 (11th Cir. 2002)). When determining whether an indictment is 

sufficient, this Court must “read it as a whole and give it a common sense 

construction.” Leonard, 4 F.4th at 1143 (quoting United States v. Jordan, 582 F.3d 

1239, 1245 (11th Cir. 2009)).  

 Count Four charges Anderson with violating 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(1)(B), which 

requires the Government to prove the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt: 

(1) Anderson solicited or accepted anything of value; (2) with the corrupt intent to 

be influenced or rewarded; (3) in connection with any business, transaction,  

9  

or series of transactions of the City of Lynn Haven involving anything of value of 

$5,000 or more.   

Anderson’s quid pro quo argument fails. As the Government observes, the 

Eleventh Circuit has “expressly” held that “there is no requirement in § 666(a)(1)(B) 

or (a)(2) that the government allege or prove an intent that a specific payment was 

solicited, received, or given in exchange for a specific official act, termed a quid pro 

quo.” United States v. McNair, 605 F.3d 1152, 1188 (11th Cir. 2010). While 

Anderson notes that the Supreme Court, in McDonnell v. United States, 579 U.S. 
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550, 576–77 (2016), held that a similar federal bribery statute contained a quid pro 

quo requirement, the Eleventh Circuit clarified that, even in light of McDonnell, a 

quid pro quo is still not required for a section 666(a)(1)(B) conviction. See United  

States v. Roberson, 998 F.3d 1237, 1247 (11th Cir. 2021) (holding that the Supreme 

Court’s decision in McDonnell “does not disturb this court’s holding in McNair and 

we do not read into section 666 limitations unsupported by the language of the 

statute”).  

This Court acknowledges that, if it were ruling on a blank slate, Anderson’s 

arguments may have merit. But this Court is bound by the Eleventh Circuit’s  

10  

decisions that unequivocally reject a quid pro quo requirement in section  

666(a)(1)(B).3 Accordingly, this Court finds that Count Four is legally sufficient.  

IV  

  As set out above, Count One of the third superseding indictment is duplicitous.  

Count Four, however, is legally sufficient. Accordingly,  

 
3 In light of the binding case law refuting Anderson’s claim that in section 666(a)(1)(B) 

contains a quid pro quo, this Court declines to address the Government’s alternative argument that 

if there were such a requirement, the indictment is still legally sufficient.  
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IT IS ORDERED:  

1. Anderson’s motion to dismiss Counts One and Four of the Third Superseding 

Indictment, ECF No. 386, is GRANTED in part and DENIED in part.  

2. Anderson’s motion to dismiss Count One is GRANTED, insofar as this Court 

will offer a curative instruction to the jury that specifies the offense charged 

in Count One of the third superseding indictment.  

3. The parties shall submit proposed curative instructions that specify the offense 

charged in Count One on or before January 25, 2023.4  

4. Anderson’s motion to dismiss Count Four is DENIED.  

SO ORDERED on January 10, 2023.  

             s/Mark E. Walker           

             Chief United States District Judge  

  

  

 
4 This deadline applies to proposed curative jury instructions regarding the duplicitous 

conspiracies in Count One only.  
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